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DESCRIBE THE PRESEN?QAND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The small community of Athens is located in the southeastern portion of Fayette County,
ten miles southeast of Lexington and 6ne-quarter mile from the Interstate 75 interchange
with Athens-Boonesboro Road. It lies in the midst of cultivated agricultural lands with
several residences, primarily farm related, dotting the countryside.

Athens consists of a four-block area on either side of the Athens-Boonesboro Road. There
are two streets to the northeast paralleling the main street, with one street to the south-
west. The town is primarily residential, with only three commercial buildings remaining.

The district is composed of what are believed to be the oldest buildings and most signi-
ficant historically and architecturally, as well as two Victorian commercial buildings,
all of which go to form the core of the community. The residences are located on the
north side of the Athens-Boonesboro Road, between Democrat and Cleveland Roads. The two
groceries are on the south side on the main street, diagonally across from the residential
buildings.

Buildings within the district boundaries include the following:

(1) Dr. Parker House is a two-story clapboard log and frame structure situated on Lot #2
of the 1826 plat. Built between 1780 and 1820, and presently in deteriorated condition,
it has a double-shouldered stone chimney on the east end and has a shed roof addition on
the rear. On the west side is a late 19th century frame addition with a brick chimney
attached by Wheeler Gentry, a former owner. The strongest historical assocation is with
Dr. Parker, a physician and previous owner.

(2) Continuing east and attached to the brick row houses on the west side of Lot #1 on
the 1820 plat, is a log house which has been covered with clapboard. Possibly the earl-
iest of the three row buildings, it could date to the 1780's, or as late as 1820. The

clapboard is over very large reguldr square logs. The window openings of this three-
bay structure are original.

(3) Marshall Tavern was constructed ca. 1840 as an addition to an inn that stands
next door. The house is five-bay, of brick laid in common bond, with parapet walls
at each end with an original chimney at the west end. The structure originally had
three doors, allowing guests to enter some rooms directly from the outside without
having to pass through other spaces.
"Two rooms connected the Tavern next door, but the doors between were closed up,
probably when the buildings were separated legally if not in fact."l

Interior woodwork is plaln, in the Greek Revival style and -appears to be original
except for the fireplace in the left front room, whlch was altered and replaced. The
direction of the staircase may have been reversed, and therefore.may not be original.

1Bettye Lee Mastin, '"Family Renovates 01d Inn Addition;" (Lexington)
Herald and Leader, April 28, 1979, p. C-3.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Athens Historic District comprises the core of an early 19th century
village near Lexington. Located on the Athens-Boonesboro Road—-the main
thoroughfare through Athens--the structures include two log buildings dating
possibly to the late 18th century, two brick row houses of early 19th century
construction, and two Victorian commercial buildings that are the only remain-
ing early business establishments in the community.

Located ten miles southeast of Lexington, Athens is situated in the historically
rich Bluegrass. Approximately eight miles to the southeast was Boonesborough,
established in 1775 by Daniel Boone, and the second fortification in Kentucky.
The first white settlement in the immediate vicinity was Daniel Boone's

Station, built on the east fork of Hickman and Boone's Creeks and dating to
1783. :

It was also in 1783 that Cross Plains was founded one-half mile west of Boone's
Station on the crossing of two buffalo traces which later became Athens~-Boones-
boro Road and Cleveland Pike (Dripps, p. 4).

By 1825 the growth of Cross Plains prompted the residents to petition the General
Assembly to charter the town, renaming it Athens (Ibid., p. 4). A plat was

drawn up, but was not strictly adhered to. Commercial buildings were integrated
among residences, and were largely concentrated within a four-block area on

either side of the Athens-Boonesboro Road. In the early part of the 19th century
the community contained several manufacturing industries, including a woolen factory
and a bagging and rope factory. By 1860 they had all burned, however, and were

not rebuilt. Kentucky historian Robert Peter details the reason for the lack

of remaining commercial buildings in downtown Athens:

Several destructive fires for so small a place have visited Athens
during the course of its eventful career. In 1853-54, all the

business houses on the south side of Main street, west of the Cleveland
pike, were swept away at a single blaze. The buildings consumed were
the Bledsoe Hotel, Harvey Nelson's dry goods store, John Donnally's store
(brick), a shoemaker's-shop and a few dwellings. They were never
rebuilt. The loss entailed was rather heavy for a small country village,
and one from which it did not readily recover. The'present business

of the place consists of two dry goods stores, three grocery stores,

one drug store, one blacksmith shop, two wagon-shops, a post office,

one hotel, etc., etc." (Peter, pp. 491-492).
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Owner's Name and Address

Mrs. Grace Barker --Flannery's Store
Route #7 A
Lexington, Kentucky 40502

Mrs. Melvin Stivers & heirs--log house
Athens-Boonesboro Pike, Route #10

Lexington, Kentucky 40502 f

Mr. John R. Owens --Dr. Parker House
116 Chinoe Road
Lexington, Kentucky 40502 .

Dr. & Mrs. Carl H. Scott ——-Marshall Tavern, Aubrey Tavern & Rose's Store
2130 Nicholasville Road
Lexington, Kentucky 40503 -
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(4) Aubrey Inn, on the northwest corner of Main (Athens-Boonesboro
Road) and Cleveland Road is located on what was originally Lot #1 of the
1826 plat. The building, which could date to as early
as 1790 or as late as 1820, is perfectly symmetrical, three

bay, with a central entrance. The brick work is laid in Flemish bond.
The jamband trim on the windows appear to be original with six-pane
sashes. Known as the "brick tavern," the structure has been partially
Greek Revivalized, with Greek pediments added over the original flat
arches above the windows. There is Italianate trim over the door which
probably dates from the 1860s or '70s.

The kitchen ell was probably added shortly after the construction of the
house, but the addition to the kitchen wing and the porch were of much
later vintage. The board and batten shed in the back of the house was
built around 1890.

(5) Directly across the street from the "brick tavern house" on the
southwest corner of the Athens~Boonesboro Road is Flannery's Store.

Built around 1880, the frame structure is in the Italianate style with
original carpenter-work brackets on the facade. Much of the interior is
still intact, including walnut hardplaned showcases, shelves and cabinets
with fine carpenter's brackets in the same style as the exterior.

(6) Rose's Store is located on the southeast corner of Athens-Boonesboro
Road and Cleveland Pike, which was originally Lot #24 on the 1826 plat.
It is a very simple commercial building dating from the mid~19th century.
The balcony and roof do not appear to be original. The two-story brick
structure was moved from its original location further east on Athens-—
Boonesboro Road to its present site in the late 1800s.

The boundaries were drawn to include the historic houses on the north side
of the main street, the commercial structures, and the section of the
Athens-Boonesboro Road that falls in between,which has functioned as the
main thoroughfare through the community since its founding.

Outside the district are modest frame buildings, some no doubt log, inter=-
mingled with contemporary housing (see sketch map). On the northeastern
corner of Democrat Street and Athens-Boonesboro Road is a vacant lot, and
further west ™  being residential. To the west of Flanmery's (#5) are
also modest residences, mostly frame. There is a large vacant lot at the
northeastern corner of Cleveland Road and Athens-Boonesboro Road, with
residences further east, as is the case to the west of Rose's Grocery (#6).
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There are presently only three remaining commercial structures in Athens--

a contemporary building on the west end of town, and two of 19th century
construction that are within the district. The early buildings include Rose's
store, dating to the mid-1800s and moved from the original site further

west on the main street in the late 1800s, and Flannery's, built in the late
19th century.

Representing the early log period of construction is the Dr. Parker House, built
between 1780 and 1820, and the house to its immediate east attached to the

brick row houses which could possibly pre-date the Parker House. Both structures
have been clapboarded. The Parker House has retained the original large stone
chimney on the east end of the house. The row houses, not uncommon in the
Bluegrass, are the only early brick structures remaining in the town. The

corner row house has added social significance in being one of the community's
early 19th century taverns.

Thus, the two log structures, the brick row houses, and the Victorian commercial
buildings together reflect the town's early character. There are no intrusions
in the district, which has remained virtually unchanged since the late 19th
century.

The closeness of I-75 interchange and the possibility of increased traffic flow
along the Athens-Boonesboro Road leading to Boonesboro Park does present a
potential threat to Athens and to the district. All of the structures within the
nominated area were built close to the two-lane road.

The upgrading of several of the older nominated buildings within the district
was assisted by the recent purchase of the rowhouses and Rose's Grocery by

Dr. Carl Scott. Marshall Tavern was restored in 1978 and the restoration of the
other brick residence is now in progress. The present owners plan the continued
use of the grocery for commercial purposes. The Dr. Parker House is presently
under new ownership and being restored.
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Collins, Richard and Collins, Lewis. History of Kentucky. Vol. II. Frankfort,
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ADDENDUM

Verbal Boundary Description

(Refer to Diagram 1)

Beginning at the southwest corner of the district, the boundary
extends from the north side of the Athens-Boonesboro Pike approximately
20" from the southwest corner of the Parker House northward approximately
150"; then turns eastward appromimately 300' until it meets the Cleveland
Road. The line then runs along the west side of Cleveland Road, crossing
to the north:side of the Athens-Boonesboro Road and extending approximately
100'. The line turns southward for approximately 100' to the rear of
Roses's store, and then turns in a southwesterly direction for approximately
200'. The line then turns northward running just to the west of Flannery's
Store and extends approximately 150' to the south side of the Athens-Boonesboro
Road. The boundary then turns westward approximately 250' running along the
south side of the road to the point of beginning.
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